## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### JOHN FLETCHER, et al.

#### **APPELLANTS**

**APPELLEES** 

v.

No. 2010-AN-00117

## DIAMONDHEAD INCORPORATORS

## AMENDED PRINCIPAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS JOHN FLETCHER, et al.

# On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Hancock County, Miss. No. C2301-08-618

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

William M. Kulick KULICK LAW FIRM 1201 Washington Ave. Ocean Springs, Miss. 39564-2851 T: 228.872.5026

Oliver E Diaz, Jr. 416 E. Amite St. Jackson, MS 39201-2601 T: 601.944.1008

David Neil McCarty Miss. Bar No. DAVID NEIL MCCARTY LAW FIRM, PLLC 416 East Amite Street Jackson, Miss. 39201 T: 601.874.0721

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### Statement of the Issues

This appeal presents four main issues.

First, must a proposed municipality garner two-thirds of the signatures of those qualified electors on the Voter Roll at the time of filing, or may it use a self-calculated number?

Second, is it a jurisdictional defect mandating dismissal when the published notice of the hearing did not feature the date of the actual hearing?

Third, did the trial court violate the incorporation opponents' guarantees of due process by failing to provide opportunities to cross-examine the petitioners' witnesses?

Last, did the chancellor who entered the final decree of incorporation err by failing to hold a new trial after the previous chancellor passed away?

#### Statement of the Case

This case involves the proposed incorporation of a city on the Mississippi Gulf Coast. The Diamondhead Incorporators sought to incorporate a section of land in Hancock County ("the Incorporators"). The proposed city would be named Diamondhead, after an existing private community. A group of taxpayers and citizens in the proposed incorporation area objected to the incorporation ("the Objectors").

By state law, any entity seeking to incorporate must meet certain jurisdictional requirements. At the bench trial over the incorporation, the Objectors argued that the Incorporators did not meet the jurisdictional requirements of obtaining the signature of two-thirds of the qualified electors. Further, the Objectors argued that the incorporation of the City was not reasonable, and was not required by public convenience and necessity. Despite these arguments, the Chancery Court of Hancock County issued a final decree establishing the City.

Aggrieved by that decision, the Objectors filed a timely appeal.

1

#### **Statement Regarding Oral Argument**

This appeal concerns the creation of a new municipality, a relatively rare occurrence in our legal system. Precise statutory requirements must be met to obtain jurisdiction in chancery court, and the trial court is faced with complex factual determinations. In this case, the Objectors argue that the precise legal requirements have not been met and that their constitutional rights to due process were violated. The intertwined issues of due process and judicial discretion would be clarified by oral argument by the parties.

#### **Procedural History and Relevant Facts**

The proposed City of Diamondhead began as a planned community for retirees in about 1970. Record Excerpts at tab 10, page 12 (referred to as "R.E. 10 at 12"). Around 1985, the management of the community was assumed by the Diamondhead Property Owners' Association ("POA"). *Id.* The community has two full golf courses, a country club, an airport, a marina, several swimming pools, tennis courts, and other recreational facilities. *Id.* The community of Diamondhead has about 96 businesses and represents that "[i]t is more than just a subdivision," but in total area occupies only about seven square miles of land. *Id.* at 13, R.E. 11 at 54. The population density of the proposed City is similar to that of Poplarville, Magnolia, Tylertown, or Purvis. R.E. 11 at 122.

Beginning in the 1980s, various attempts were made toward incorporating the community as a City under state law. R.E. 10 at 13. After Hurricane Katrina in 2005, certain members of the POA redoubled efforts toward incorporation, and in 2007 began formal efforts toward incorporation. R.E. 10 at 14-18. To that end, they established a group called "Diamondhead Incorporators."

Mississippi law mandates that would-be incorporators must meet certain requirements before incorporation can proceed in the court system. First, two-thirds of the "qualified electors"

2

of the proposed incorporation area must sign a petition submitting to the incorporation. The Incorporators spent the next several months attempting to garner the required signatures and asserted by the time of trial that they had obtained the requisite number. R.E. 12 at 34, 39.

The Petition for Incorporation was filed on July 22, 2008. R.E. 2 at 1.<sup>1</sup> That same day, the Incorporators obtained a certified copy of the Voter Roll from Hancock County Circuit Court that set the number of qualified electors at 5,920 persons. R.E. 3 at 396.

Because the local chancellors recused from the case, the Supreme Court appointed a replacement, the Honorable Kennie E. Middleton. R.E. 8. Although several members of the Diamondhead community opposed incorporation, they did not retain an attorney. These Objectors nonetheless tendered to the trial court their objections to the incorporation, some of which were quite detailed and lengthy. *See, e.g.*, R.E. 4; R.E. 5; R.E. 15 at 3678; R.E. 16 at 3685; R.E. 17.

State law requires that the Incorporators provide notice of the trial to those affected in two ways — by posting notice in three public places and by publication in a newspaper. There was evidence that the Incorporators posted notice of the hearing as required by statute: a "Return and Affidavit of Posting" placed on that docket showed posting in six places, double the required three. R.E. 6. The Incorporators also provided proof that they advertised a hearing over the proposed incorporation in the *Sea Coast Echo*, a small local newspaper, from August 13, 2008 through September 3, 2008. *See* "Proof of Publication," attached as an Appendix to this Brief. However, the advertisement in the *Echo* stated that the hearing would be held on September 15, 2008. Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because the signatures of the petitioners must be attached to the Petition, volumes 1-24 of the Record are solely reproductions of the Petition and the attached signatures. Portions of volume 25 and all of volume 26 make up the remainder of the court file.

In actuality, the chancery court did not hold the hearing over the incorporation until several months later, on January 9, 2009. The Incorporators called four witnesses: proposed mayor Charles Henry Ingraham, Jr.; Audrey Ramirez, co-chairperson of the Petition Subcommittee; Dalton Roberson, called to testify whether the proposed community was attempting to exclude persons based on race; and Chris Watson, a planning expert. Because none of the Objectors was represented by counsel, the Incorporators' witnesses were allowed to testify without objection and without cross-examination. Five Objectors spoke at the hearing to express their problems with the proposed incorporation: Gerald Benninger, Tom Leader, Mrs. Miles Barnes, Molly Kooney, and Lael Butler.<sup>2</sup> The hearing was completed that day.

After the hearing, Chancellor Middleton passed away on September 17, 2009, before tendering a finding of fact, conclusion of law, or final decree. The Honorable Billy G. Bridges was appointed by the Supreme Court on October 15, 2009. R.E. 14.

The docket is wholly devoid of any entries between the appointment of Judge Middleton in 2008 and the appointment of Judge Bridges in 2009.

The trial court then tendered findings of fact and conclusion of law on January 5, 2010. R.E. 18. The trial court noted that a status conference was held on Thursday, December 3, 2009. *Id.* at 3777. While the court noted that it "allowed the objectors to voice additional comments . . . no sworn testimony was taken, nor was the case reopened." *Id.* Likewise, no transcript was taken of the conference.

The trial court also addressed the number of qualified electors supporting the Petition. *Id.* at 3783-86. However, the trial court stated neither the actual number of signatories nor the number of qualified electors comprising two-thirds of the proposed incorporation area. The trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While state law requires the notification of all municipalities within three miles of the proposed incorporation area, only the City of Waveland filed an answer to the Petition. R. 25 at 3664. It did not appear at trial to contest the incorporation.

court relied on an exhibit introduced at trial that purported to show that the actual number of qualified electors was 4,645. R.E. 9. However, the certified Voter Roll introduced by the Incorporators at trial set the number of registered voters (and thus qualified electors) at 5,920, or more than one thousand people than the Incorporators estimated. *Id.* The Voter Roll came under seal from the Hancock Circuit County, verified on July 22, 2008, the day the Petition was filed. R.E. 3.

The Incorporators' Exhibit alleged that their effort needed 3,096 signatures to constitute two-thirds and that they exceeded this amount by 422 people, garnering 3,518 signatures. R.E. 9. These numbers were not referenced in pleadings or at trial – only on one summary exhibit, which directly contradicted the verified Voter Roll.

At trial, the Incorporators admitted that they changed the number of persons reflected on the Voter Roll at their own discretion, conceding that they "update[d], periodically, the voter rolls . . . ." R.E. 12 at 29-30. Despite the fact that the Incorporators relied on the July 22, 2008 Voter Roll, which showed the total amount of qualified electors at 5,920, and entered the Voter Roll into evidence, they did not use that number for the purposes of meeting the two-thirds requirement. *Id.* at 31. Instead, they substituted a number based on their own calculations of who should have been on the Voter Roll and who should not. *Id.* at 32.

The trial court also addressed whether the Incorporators had provided proper notice under statute. It held that "[n]otice was published in a newspaper of general circulation in the area sought to be incorporated in the time and manner provided by law." R.E. 18 at 3778.

After the findings were issued by the trial court, the Incorporators submitted a Final Decree of Incorporation, which was signed by the chancellor and placed on the docket on

5

January 12, 2010. R.E. 19. From that Final Decree, the Objectors timely appealed.<sup>3</sup> Once this case was docketed on appeal, the Incorporators petitioned and were granted the right to supplement the record to include the Proof of Publication contained as the Appendix to this Brief, and the Objectors were allowed to amend their original filing to address the full record.

#### **Standards of Review**

The Court reviews questions of law *de novo*. *City of Jackson v. Byram Incorporators*, 16 So. 3d 662, 670 (Miss. 2009) ("*Byram*"). However, in general the Court "cannot overturn the decree of a chancellor unless it finds with reasonable certainty that the decree is manifestly wrong on a question of law or interpretation of facts pertaining to legal questions." *Id*.

As to the factual issues in the case, the "Court applies the standard of manifest error," which generally defers to the finding of the chancellor who observed the trial and evidence. *Id.* at 675.

## Summary of the Argument

The Final Decree must be reversed for two major jurisdictional defects. First, the Incorporators did not obtain the statutorily required two-thirds signatures required to sustain the Petition. Secondly, the Incorporators failed to properly notice the actual day of the hearing.

Further, the Final Decree must be reversed because the Incorporators' witnesses were permitted to testify without being subjected to cross-examination. Lastly, the chancellor who entered the final decree of incorporation should have held a new trial after the prior chancellor passed away.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State law allows that "[a]ny person interested in or aggrieved by the decree of the chancellor, and who was a party to the proceedings in the chancery court, may prosecute an appeal therefrom to the supreme court . . . " Miss. Code Ann. § 21-1-21. The statute is to be read broadly as to apply to all persons whose property rights were adjudicated. See Sperry Rand Corp. v. City of Jackson, 245 So. 2d 574, 575 (Miss. 1971). The Objectors in the case at hand appeared at trial and made their objections known, their property rights have been affected, and no party has argued that they do not have standing to pursue this appeal. Further, on September 15, 2008, several of the Objectors caused a handwritten pleading entitled "List of Interested Parties" to be filed on the docket. R.E. 7.

#### ARGUMENT

### I. The Failure to Obtain Two-Thirds of the Signatures of the Qualified Electors Mandates Dismissal.

Because the Incorporators failed to obtain the signatures of two-thirds of the qualified

electors as listed on the Voter Rolls at the time the case was filed, the chancery court did not

have jurisdiction, and this Petition must be dismissed.

In relevant part, the incorporation statute requires that:

Whenever the inhabitants of any unincorporated territory shall desire to incorporate such territory as a city or town, they shall prepare a petition and file same in the chancery court of the county in which such territory is located or, if the territory is located in more than one county, the chancery court of either county. Said petition shall meet the following requirements:

(3) it shall be signed by at least two-thirds of the qualified electors residing in the territory proposed to be incorporated ....

Miss. Code Ann. § 21-1-13 (emphasis added). State law provides strict jurisdictional guidelines that must be met when petitioning for incorporation, or the petition will be rejected. "[T]he twothirds-signature element is a mandatory and jurisdictional requirement, and a petition for incorporation cannot be amended to include additional signatures." *Byram*, 16 So. 3d at 673; *see also In re City of Ridgeland*, 494 So. 2d 348, 353 (Miss. 1986) ("*Ridgeland*") (annexation petition would be dismissed without prejudice when it "has not been joined by the percentage of qualified electors" required by statute).

Further, the Incorporators bear the burden of proving the two-thirds jurisdictional mandate was met. See generally Myrick v. Incorporation of a Designated Area into a *Municipal Corp. to be Named Stringer*, 336 So. 2d 209, 210 (Miss. 1976) ("Stringer") ("The burden of proof was upon the petitioners to show that they had met the statutory requirements to give the court jurisdiction to hear their petition"); *Byram*, at 671 ("the petitioners for incorporation have the burden of proving the sufficiency of the petition") (internal quotations

and alterations omitted).

The Voter Roll is clear that there were 5,920 qualified electors in the Diamondhead community at the time the Petition was filed on July 22, 2008. The two-thirds number of qualified electors must be calculated from this number, for as the Court has said in the past, voter rolls and poll books "alone constitute the most viable record by which to determine the number of qualified electors in a given area." *City of Pascagoula v. Scheffler*, 487 So. 2d 196, 200 (Miss. 1986). Further, this Court has also made clear that "the question of whether the two-thirds requirement . . . has been met must be determined by an ascertainment of the number of persons living in the area to be annexed who on [the day of filing] were registered voters in Madison County, Mississippi, and then determining whether two-thirds of that number have signed the complaint." 494 So.2d at 352 (examining the analogous annexation statute).

It is uncontested there were 5,920 qualified electors on the Voter Roll the day the Petition was filed.<sup>4</sup> Two-thirds of that number (or 66.7 percent) is 3,943 people. Although the Incorporators never detailed in their Petition or other pleading how many signatures they obtained, nor testified specifically at trial, one of their exhibits at trial calculated their number of signatures at 3,518.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Specifically, there were 4,208 voters in Diamondhead East, and 1,712 in Diamondhead West. R.E. at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Exhibit P-012, the "Signature Tabulation Worksheet." R.E. at 9.

Oddly, the number of qualified electors on the Voter Roll and actual number of signatures needed to fulfill the two-thirds requirement were never referenced in the case below. Nowhere in the Petition, the bench trial, the findings of fact and conclusions of law (based heavily off the arguments of the Incorporators), or the Final Decree (which was wholly authored by the Incorporators) is the *actual number* disclosed of how many citizens constitute two-thirds of the qualified electors; this number is buried only a summary exhibit introduced at trial. Similarly, the Incorporators never specify *how many* actual signatures they obtained save on the summary exhibit. There are only repeated and vague references to how the Incorporators have "more than" two-thirds of the qualified electors, without detail or specification. This failure to specify does not meet the *Stringer* burden of affirmative proof that the chancery court had jurisdiction.

The Incorporators needed 3,943 signatures to fulfill the two-thirds statutory requirement; they only obtained 3,518, or about 59 percent. The Incorporators simply did not obtain the 2/3 signatures they needed. For this critical reason, the Petition must be dismissed without prejudice, as the chancery court did not have jurisdiction to hear the case.

From the Record, it seems that the Incorporators tried to craft a "better" estimate of the number of qualified electors than the Voter Roll, purging those qualified electors they thought deceased, moved, incapacitated, or out of the proposed incorporation area. R.E. 12 at 30-32. However, the *Ridgeland* case is clear that the Voter Roll *at the time the Petition is filed* controls the two-thirds number. 494 So.2d at 352. Additionally, "[w]hen the language used by the legislature is plain and unambiguous . . . and where the statute conveys a clear and definite meaning . . . the Court will have no occasion to resort to the rules of statutory interpretation." *Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Mississippi Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 990 So. 2d 174, 180 (Miss. 2008)

(internal quotations and citation omitted). Two-thirds means two-thirds.

The lack of specificity begins at the moment of "conception" for the proposed City—on the first page of the Petition, which only states, "The Petitioners herein are two-thirds (2/3rds) and more of the qualified electors residing in the territory proposed to be incorporated and are each adult resident citizens of Hancock County, Mississippi." R.E. 2 at 1. The Objectors ascertained the lack of detail immediately, asking "[w]hat authority determined the number of signatures required to file the petition?" and "What authority verified . . . the number and validity of the acquired signatures?" R.E. 5. These questions were never answered.

They were certainly not answered at the bench trial. Although extensive testimony was presented at trial on *how* the signatures were collected and indexed, no actual numbers were presented. Tr. 19-40. The Incorporators only offered vague generalities. One witness for the Incorporators stated that "[o]ver 75 percent of those electors in the area to be incorporated signed the petition for incorporation," and later the Incorporators' expert repeated the same number. R.E. 10 at 21-22; R.E. 11 at 125. Another stated that she agreed "that more than two-thirds of the qualified electors have signed the petitions," and "[t]hat we have adequate signatures for the two-thirds [requirement]." R.E. 12 at 34. Even after being alerted at the bench trial that 13 persons wished to be taken off the Petition, the numbers did not gain weight or specificity. Tr. at 35. Ultimately, the Incorporators simply asserted without detail "[t]hat more than twothirds of the qualified [electors] in the proposed incorporation area did, indeed, favor incorporation." R.E. 12 at 40.

This lack of specificity is a separate reason why the Petition should fail, as the Incorporators did not meet their burden of proving that the two-thirds of qualified electors supported the Petition.

Nor did the Incorporators seek to have the Voter Roll purged or "cleaned up" at the time of filing, an issue in the *Scheffler* case. The question in that case concerned whether the incorporators had properly sought a purge of their voter rolls; the Court ultimately found "no fault with actions taken by the Gautier incorporators to aid the commissioners of election in removing the names of non-resident or deceased electors." *Scheffler*, 487 So. 2d at 200. Unlike that case, the Incorporators in this case did not make any effort to "clean up" the Voter Roll until *after* the Petition had been filed—an action clearly in violation of the *Ridgeland* case.

In general the Court "cannot overturn the decree of a chancellor unless it finds with reasonable certainty that the decree is manifestly wrong on a question of law *or interpretation of facts pertaining to legal questions.*" *Byram*, 16 So. 3d at 670 (emphasis added). In this case, the trial court was manifestly wrong when it accepted the Incorporators' argument that they had obtained two-thirds of the required signatures. In the end, the calculation is simple. Mississippi law requires two-thirds of qualified electors to support a Petition. The Voter Roll at the time the Petition sets the number of qualified electors and the two-thirds number; that number was 5,920.<sup>6</sup>

Because the Incorporators did not obtain the signatures of two-thirds of the 5,920 qualified electors, and their Petition must be dismissed without prejudice, as the chancery court did not have jurisdiction over this case.

#### **II.** The Newspaper Publication Did Not Give Actual Notice of the Hearing.

State law requires very precise notice to persons affected by a proposed incorporation, and the Incorporators failed to provide actual notice of the date of the incorporation hearing. Because of the lack of proper notice, the Final Decree must be reversed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> While the Voter Roll clearly states that there were 5,920 qualified electors as of July 22, 2008, the Incorporators' "Signature Tabulation Worksheet" pegs this number at 6,571. R.E. 9. Their reasoning is unknown.

The statute governing notice of hearing sets out a multi-part process for providing notice to those affected by the proposed incorporation. First, after the petition is filed:

[T]he chancellor shall set a day certain, either in term time or in vacation, for the hearing of such petition and notice shall be given to all persons interested in, affected by, or having objections to the proposed incorporation, *that the hearing on the petition will be held on the day fixed by the chancellor* and that all such persons will have the right to appear and enter their objections, if any, to the proposed incorporation.

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