IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-TS-00117

JOHN FLETCHER

APPELLANTS

VS.

DIAMONDHEAD INCORPORATORS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following list of persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Appellants

John Fletcher John McConnon Tom Leader

Appellants Counsel

William M. Kulick KULICK LAW FIRM 1201 Washington Ave. Ocean Springs, MS 39564-2851

Oliver E. Diaz, Jr. Chuck McRae MCRAE DIAZ LAW FIRM 416 E. Amite Street Jackson, MS 39201-2601

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

'An elemental requirement in the production of evidence is that it shall be intelligible to the triers of the facts and to the person being tried; and the further requirement is that it shall be definite and that the right of cross-examination shall be preserved. Moreover, the production must be in such a state of preparation as to expedite the trial and prevent trespasses upon the time of courts and juries. It follows, therefore, that, when intricate accounts and voluminous business records are to be inquired

l

into and the facts upon particular issues said to be disclosed by said records are to be adduced in proof, it must be done by way of the previous preparation, by a competent person, of definite and pertinent schedules, tabulations, or other suitable and practical compilations, and the person who has made the compilations must be introduced as a witness, so that the records in evidence may be explained and the pertinent parts thereof definitely and cogently pointed out, and so that cross-examination may be permitted to search into the soundness of the compilations or schedules and of the conclusions sought to be established. In the absence of a reasonable compliance with the foregoing requirements, a pile of books of account will prove no more in law than, as a practical matter, they have disclosed in a concrete and definite form to the minds of those who are to determine the issue or issues, and this, save in rare cases, could reasonably be, in actual and dependable substance, but little more than nothing.' See also Chas. Weaver & Co., Inc. v. Phares, 185 Miss. 244, 188 So. 12, and Gulf M. & O. R. Co. v. Luter Motor Express, 190 Miss. 523, 1 So.2d 231. The requirements essential to the introduction of this evidence as outlined by the above cases were met by the respondent. The testimony of the attorney who made the study of the official records of Harrison County, Mississippi, required by statute to be kept by the public officials, was competent.³ It follows that the lower court had ample evidence upon which to base its decree.

A Yes, sir, I have.

³ See the testimony of Chris Watson, an expert witness in urban and regional planning (T. 45-130): Q As a result of your examination of the petitions of the voter rolls and the supporting data with regard to persons who were no longer residents, for example, houses that were no longer there, did you reach any conclusion as to whether two-thirds of the qualified electors had signed?

A Yes, sir, I did.

Q Exhibit P-012, before you, is a tabulation of the number of qualified electors residing in Diamondhead as of the time the petition was filed. Have you had an opportunity to review that?

Q Can you tell me how that document and the numbers contained, therein, compare to your examination of the voter rolls, the data available, and the petitions?

A These numbers represent the result of our two-day workshop, those two days prior to filing the petition. We met with the incorporation group. We went over their methods and their determinations in terms of how they went about gathering data, how they managed the database. I, personally, took their working database and analyzed it to come up with the resulting numbers that wound up on P-012.

Q Based upon your experience in the field of Urban and Regional Planning, were sound principles applied to the determination of the number of qualified electors residing within the territory sought to be incorporated?

A Absolutely.

Q You say that those numbers are reflected on P-012?

A That is correct.

250 Miss. at 722-24, 168 So.2d at 41-42 (emphasis added). In this case, the Incorporators took precisely the course approved by this Court. First, the Incorporators introduced Exhibit 19, a certified copy of the voter rolls for the two precincts within which the proposed incorporation area lay. The Incorporators also offered the testimony of Audrey Ramirez. (T. 28-40.) Her testimony reflects that based on her examination of the voter rolls of Hancock County, based on her examination of each of the petitions which were before the court below, based her knowledge gained during this process with regard to what a qualified elector is, and based upon the request for removal on the day of trial, Ms. Ramirez had reached the conclusion that more than two thirds of the qualified electors residing in the territory signed the petition. (T. 39-40.)

In reaching the conclusions regarding the number of required signatures, she testified that the Incorporators did the following:

- Kept in touch with the circuit clerk to make sure that they added any newly registered voters to their database. (T. 30.)
- Determined which of the registered voters on the rolls lived outside the area sought to be incorporated (the geography of the precincts differs from the geography of the proposed incorporation area). (T. 32.)
- Reviewed obituary notices in the newspaper to determine who died and if the deceased had signed the petition. (T. 35.)
- Checked the United States Social Security Index to determine if persons had died for which they found no obituary. (T. 36.)
- Checked the tax records to identify property transfers by registered voters. (T. 36.)
- Used the Property Owner's Association membership list to aid in determining who was actually living in the area. (T. 37.)
- Utilized personal knowledge regarding persons who had moved or died. (T. 37.)

- In cases where voter rolls showed several families registered at the same address, conducted personal investigations to determine who was actually residing at an address. (T. 37.)
- Eliminated any signatures not personally signed by the voter. (T. 37.)
- Additionally removed the signature of any person making such a request and did not count it as a signature. (T. 34.)
- They recorded all the information in a database with regard to each voter. (T. 37-38; Exhibit 18).

In addition to the testimony of Mrs. Ramirez, the Incorporators offered the testimony of Chris Watson. Mr. Watson testified as to the geography of both the proposed incorporation area and the voter rolls maintained by Hancock County. He testified that all of the incorporation area is contained within two precincts – Diamondhead East and Diamondhead West. However, the two precincts are larger than the area sought to be incorporated. (T. 75). Because of the differing geography it was necessary to determine which registered voters on the roll lived within the area sought to be incorporated. He made a physical inspection of the area and came up with a list of the registered voters in the area sought to be incorporated.

To support his testimony, he reviewed the petitions, the voter rolls, and the database compiled by the Incorporators, and attended a two day conference reviewing the methods utilized by the group of incorporators and the data utilized by the group for input into the database. He testified that the methodology and documents relied on were consistent with sound principles of urban and regional planning. Based on this data, he compiled Exhibit 12, which is precisely the type tabulation required in *Bridges v. City of Biloxi, supra.* That tabulation reflects the total number of voters on the roll for the two precincts according to the initial list provided by circuit clerk, newly registered voters

during the 11 month period the petition drive was ongoing, and the names of voters who were removed by the election commission during this time (a total of 6,571 as set out on Exhibit 12). A comparison of Exhibit 18 (the database printout) to the voter roll as of the date of filing (Exhibit 19) is helpful. Exhibit 18 contains the names of all the registered voters within Diamondhead East and Diamondhead West precincts who lived in the proposed incorporation area.⁴ Exhibit 18 (Petition Signature Database) shows precisely which persons were counted as qualified electors as of the date of signing of the petition. Before adjustment for geographic differences, there were 5,920 persons registered to vote in the two precincts.⁵ (R.E. 3, page 396 of exhibit 19.) The printout identifies each person the Incorporators claimed not to reside in the territory sought to be incorporated on the date of filing. It shows whether the person was on the voter roll. Luther Magers was one example excluded from the registered voters list (Exhibit 19) based on an obituary in the Sun Herald dated 4/3/08. (See page 198 of Exhibit 18.) It also confirms that he had not signed the petition. Another example is Germaome Bellina.⁶ This person

Qualified Electors shown on Exhibit 12

⁴ It does not include the names of 35 voters who lived in one of the precincts but outside the proposed incorporation area. The argument of Objectors that the two-thirds number be based on the voter roll. There is no voter roll in existence for the precise territory of the incorporation area.

 $^{^{5}}$ The database contains 6,571 names. This is because the election commission purged many of the names listed on the voter rolls initially provided to the Incorporators. Additionally, new voters registered. If a person was registered to vote at any time during the pendency of the petition drive, the name remains on the database list.

⁶ Of the 37 people listed on Exhibit 22 as dead, only 10 signed the petition. (Those are Bobby Armstrong, John N. Stewart, Marie Bauer (shown as removing her signature in Ex 24 and dead on Ex. 22) Paul Moody Robert Baker, Harry Geauthreaux, William Swink, John Billings, Earl Brown, and Stephen L. Guice.) Assuming the accuracy of this exhibit, that would reduce the number of required signatures by 6 2/3's voters. This leaves the number of signatures well within the cushion of 422 extra signatures on the petitions. In addition 13 people requested that their names be removed from the petition on the day of the hearing. Of these, two were not counted as having signed because they had already requested the removal their names. (Those are Patricia A. Terry, page 234 of Exhibit 18 and Margaret J. Williamson, page 243.) This would have reduced the signatures counted by 11. Based on the evidence presented by the Incorporators, it is clear that the two-thirds requirement is met. The recalculation would be as follows:

is not on either the voter roll or the database. This is because she was not registered to vote at any time during the process. The documents in evidence allow one to recreate the numbers contained on Exhibit 12. The tabulation was done to comply with the dictates of *Bridges v. City of Biloxi, supra.*⁷

c. The incorrect assertion that the Petition should contain the number of qualified electors residing in the area.

Objectors find fault that the petition did not contain the number of "qualified electors on the voter roll" on the day the petition was filed. Such a requirement is not found in the statute. In order to comply with such a requirement, only two options would be available to citizens seeking self-determination by petition to incorporate:

- The petition would have to be prepared and all signatures obtained in a single day. If anyone registered to vote during that day the process would have to be started over.
- The objectors would have to exercise psychic power to predict the number of registered voters on the day when the petition would be filed, as petition drives of this nature take considerable time.

As a practical matter, gathering of signatures on a petition to incorporate is a lengthy and complex task. The testimony in this case shows that the process of obtaining and

Less 10 dead shown on Exhibit 22	4,635
2/3's of reduced number	
Number of signatures reduced by 10 who signed then died	
Number of Surplus Signatures	420

Based on acceptance of the Objectors evidence it is clear that the petition contained hundreds of signatures more than were needed.

⁷ Although no objection was made, Appellees respectfully suggest that Exhibit 12 constituted a summary of voluminous writings which is now admissible in evidence pursuant to Rule 1006 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.

verifying signatures took around eleven months.⁸ Over that period of time, the evidence

is undisputed that the voter rolls were constantly changing.

d. The incorrect assertion that the Appellees in this case did not make any effort to clean up the Voter Roll until after the Petition had been filed – an action clearly in violation of the Ridgeland case.

There is no basis for this allegation. The undisputed testimony of Audrey

Rameriz reflects that as the Incorporators found persons who were registered but no

longer lived in the area, they contacted the County. She testified:

A. ... We purchased the voter roll from Hancock County for our two particular voting districts. Of those, as we went through and the petitioners started contacting the individual voters, we found several of those that we are either moved, or some of them were deceased now. There were a few other reasons that we felt some were no longer qualified voters.

Q. Did you make any contact with the County to bring these matters to their attention?

A. We did. We, periodically, came and talked with the Clerk's office. We got updates as to who might have notified them that they were no longer living in the area.

(T. 30.) This issue is without merit.

ISSUE 2

Did the newspaper publication give actual notice of the hearing, where the hearing was convened and continued?

⁸ Q How long did your work, with regard to verification of signatures, take? Over how many months did you do that work?

A It was 11 months.

Q Eleven months. And over that 11 month period, did the voter rolls change?

A Constantly.

Q Did you, over that period, update, periodically, the voter rolls you were working?

A Yes, we did.

⁽Testimony of Audrey Ramirez, T. 31.)

The parties are in agreement that state law requires notice to persons affected by the proposed incorporation by publication. It is not disputed that the notice requirements must be strictly adhered to. The Appellants correctly cite *Wiley v. Extension of Boundaries of Iuka*, 441 So. 2d 116 (Miss. 1983) and *Myrick v. Incorporation of a Designated Area into a Municipal Corp. to be Named Stringer*, 336 So. 2d 209 (Miss. (1976) to support this statement.

In this case there is no question that proper notice was given. Originally, the Appellants had argued that there was no proof of publication in the record in this case. However, this Court permitted supplementation of the record to allow the truth related to the issue to be shown.⁹ The record reflects that all posting, summons and publication were done in accordance with the controlling statutes. The record shows that notice of

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